DO NOT REMOVE **FILE COPY** FROM FILE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- I. IN THIS PROPERTY DAMAGE CASE, THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING RESPONDENT TO CLAIM SPECULATIVE LOST BUSINESS INCOME DAMAGES WHERE RESPONDENT ADMITTED HIS ESTIMATES WERE "SPECULATION" AND RESPONDENT'S EXPERT ACCOUNTANT ADMITTED HIS ESTIMATES DID NOT FOLLOW AN ACCEPTED METHODOLOGY OR DETERMINE CAUSATION.
- II. IN THIS PROPERTY DAMAGE CASE, THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING RESPONDENT TO PRESENT IRRELEVANT EVIDENCE AND INFLAMMATORY ARGUMENT CONCERNING THE SUBJECT ACCIDENT, INCLUDING "JANE DOE FLEEING" THE ACCIDENT SCENE, TO SUPPORT HIS ANNOYANCE AND INCONVENIENCE DAMAGES RELATED TO LOSS OF USE OF HIS DUMP TRUCK DURING THE REPAIR PERIOD.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On March 29, 2016, an automobile driven by an unknown "Jane Doe" driver struck a 2005 Freightliner dump truck owned and operated by Respondent, Carl Long. After the accident, the unknown "Jane Doe" driver fled the scene. [0018-0025] She has not been identified. Her liability for the accident is not disputed. Respondent was not injured in the subject accident. His dump truck was significantly damaged and deemed a total loss. [0018-0025, 1325, 2703]

On May 20, 2016 (less than two months after the subject accident), Respondent filed a law suit against Jane Doe alleging negligence which caused damage to his 2005 Freightliner dump truck and associated business losses. He did not allege personal injuries or claim associated damages. [0018-0025, 2703] Specifically, Respondent sought to recover the fair market value of his dump truck on the date of the accident and his lost business income associated with his "down time" while he replaced the dump truck. Petitioner, United Financial Casualty Company, insured Respondent under an insurance policy which provided uninsured motorist (UM) insurance benefits. Accordingly, Respondent served Petitioner with his law suit as a notice defendant under West Virginia Code § 33-6-31(d). [0018-0025, 1325]

On June 6, 2016, Respondent advised Petitioner that "the best course will be for [Respondent] to retain an accountant to help [Respondent] document what his losses are, both past and future, in light of his inadequate replacement truck which, while it helped him retain his client base, it has not been nearly as efficient and it costs more to run." Respondent further advised Petitioner that he "needs to get through his busy season, and not miss any more work, to minimize his damages under his UM policy. As a result, [Respondent] will not be forwarding [Petitioner] comps or a demand package until late summer or early Spring, once [Respondent has] gathered the necessary information." [2197]

On August 4, 2016, Respondent filed discovery responses disclosing he was without a dump truck from March 29, 2016 to April 22, 2016. He purchased a brand new 2016 Peterbilt replacement dump truck on April 13, 2016 for \$164,138.82. [0055-0084] He claimed the fair market value of his 2005 Freightliner dump truck on March 29, 2016 was \$75,000. He also claimed \$16,245.21 in 2016 lost business income, \$41,500 in future lost business income, and additional future damages associated with his choice of a brand new replacement truck, including the \$49,138.82 cost of trading it for another customized dump truck (a 2017 Freightliner costing \$147,554) and \$12,652.75 in interest on the initial loan. [0057-0061]

On October 28, 2016, Respondent filed supplemental discovery responses to provide several documents omitted from his original responses. [0085-0098] In these supplemental discovery responses, Respondent alleged the fair market value of his 2005 Freightliner dump truck on March 29, 2016 was \$80,000, exclusive of taxes and fees. He alleged he was without a dump truck for nineteen (19) days in April 2016 and claimed he lost \$17,142.88 in business income during this time. He also alleged his total 2016 lost business income was \$34,638.28. Respondent

further stated the future damages claimed in his August 4, 2016 discovery responses "were only

projections." [0085-0087]

On February 10, 2017, Respondent gave deposition testimony concerning his lost business

income claims. When questioned about the various factors which affect his dump truck business,

Respondent testified:

- Q: Do you have work for your truck every day of the week?
- A: I... no, I do not have work for every day of the week.
- Q: So how many days per week would you typically have work for your truck?
- A: That's impossible to tell.
- Q: Why?
- A: Because, again, you're looking at every day of the week working. You have rain. I have office work. I have estimates. I have various jobs that I do that don't require the truck, that don't require me to haul; and you may go for a stretch where you run for a month straight every single day, and they you may go for two weeks where you're catching up on paperwork, you're catching up on maintenance, you're catching up on taxes and tags and every other issue that you have to deal with that you can't deal with when you're working.
- Q: So, are you able to tell me whether you would have earned money on March 31, 2016?
- A: No, I cannot tell you if the truck was going to or was not going to run.
- Q: And is that true for April 1?
- A: It's true for every day.
- Q: Every day that your truck was out of service?
- A: Every day of the year.

Respondent's Deposition, pg. 71, line 13 – pg. 72, line 15 (emphasis added) [4034-4035].

When questioned about how he determined the work he lost for his dump truck business

and, thus, his lost gross receipts, Respondent testified:

- Q: Now, can you tell me, from looking at the calendar, of those days, March 30, 2016 through April 27, 2016, which days you had work for your truck?
- A: No, I cannot tell you that.

[...]

Q: Can you tell me, from any of the records that you have produced or any of the records that you have, what type of work you would have had for your truck between March 30. 2016 and April 27, 2016?

- A: I could go back and figure that up, yes.
- Q: How would you do that?
- A: Well, some of the jobs that I did after the fact were jobs I could have done then, and I wouldn't have had to turn other work away that came later because I was catching up on what I didn't do in the spring.
- Q: Have you tried to sit down and figure out what jobs you would have been expecting to do between March 30, 2016 and April 27, 2016?
- A: No, because at that time, I was trying to get my business back up and running. That's what my focus was.

Respondent's Deposition, pg. 82, line 10 – pg. 83, line 10 (emphasis added) [4045-4046].

Finally, when questioned about how he determined his lost business income, Respondent

admitted he could only speculate:

- Q: Do you have a record of the jobs that you had lined up [March 29 to April 28, 2016]?
- A: I told you no.
- $[\ldots]$
- A: And how would you know what you're going to make off each job? What if you have a problem on the job and you get delayed and you can't go to the next job, or what if this job cancels, or what if, hey, I got gone early and I got two jobs in today and I made even more than last year. There is absolutely no way to know that.
- Q: You could have made more or you could have made less in 2016.
- A: Exactly. There is no way to verify that.
- Q: There is no way to know without speculating.

Ms. Davis [Respondent's counsel]: Right.

- Q: Right?
- A: Exactly.

Respondent's Deposition, pg. 233, line 16 – pg. 234, line 10 (emphasis added) [4196-4197].

- Q: So, you can only speculate about which of these days [March 30, 2016 to April 27, 2016] would have been conducive to spreading gravel?
- A: Just like you, yes.
- [...]
- Q: And you don't know where you would have been working during that April 2016 time frame?
- A: No, and I don't know what I would been doing. It could have been hauling to a drain field. It could have been putting in a new road that doesn't require rain.
- Q: And some of those jobs would be more profitable than others?
- A: Yeah.

Q: And there is no way to know how profitable the jobs you would have had during that time frame would have been?A: No.

Respondent's Deposition, pg. 254, line 13 – pg. 256, line 22 (emphasis added) [4217-4219].

On April 14, 2017, Respondent disclosed an accountant, Chad Lawyer, CPA, as an expert witness to estimate his damages. [1654-1657] After filing his 2016 tax returns in May 2017, Respondent disclosed Mr. Lawyer's damage calculations. Mr. Lawyer originally calculated three areas of "economic loss" totaling \$104,686 for Respondent's business: 1) loss of net profit in 2016 (\$18,428); 2) loss of net expenses on the 2016 Peterbilt (\$64,064); and 3) loss on the sale of 2016 Peterbilt (\$22,194). [1661-1666]

On July 18, 2017, Mr. Lawyer gave deposition testimony concerning Respondents' alleged damages. [4628] He significantly reduced his economic loss calculations from \$104,686 to \$82,945 by conceding his estimated depreciation on the 2016 Peterbilt replacement truck (\$21,945) duplicated damages Respondent claimed for loan payments (\$30,021) and the loan payoff (\$25,880) on that truck. Thus, Mr. Lawyer revised his expert opinion to claim Respondent sustained \$82,741 in economic loss, not \$104,686 in economic loss, as a result of the subject accident. [4727-4743] Following Mr. Lawyer's deposition testimony, Respondent amended his Expert Witness Disclosure to indicate "Mr. Lawyer is expected to testify that [Respondent's] business losses from the loss of his truck were \$82,493." [1753-1756]

On July 18, 2017, Mr. Lawyer also gave deposition testimony concerning the basis for his evaluation of Respondent's lost business income claims. When questioned about the various factors which affect Respondent's dump truck business, Mr. Lawyer testified:

- Q: What other factors might impact [Respondent's] gross sales?
- A: I would think in his business weather could certainly affect it. You know, the economy can affect anything. That's probably the probably the two biggest ones that jump to mind.

5

- Q: His ability to have time to work?
- A: Yes, sir
- Q: Who calls him? I mean, the number of customers who call him?
- A: Yes, sir.

Chad Lawyer, CPA July 18, 2017 Deposition, pg. 29, line 24 – pg. 30, line 9 [4656-4657].

- Q: [...] What factors influence a business' gross receipts?
- A: I could be various factors, you know, amount of work, weather, you know, traffic even. In in Mr. Long's case, road construction the economy, Mr. Long's health, I mean, any of those things.
- Q: So, all those could, factors you've described, could make Mr. Long's gross receipts for his business go up or down in a given year?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: Would you agree with me that all those factors you've described have nothing to do with the motor vehicle accident on March 29 of 2016?
 A: I would agree with that
- A: I would agree with that.

Chad Lawyer, CPA July 18, 2017 Deposition, pg. 67, line 17 – pg. 68, line 6 (emphasis added)

[4694-4695].

Ultimately, Mr. Lawyer admitted he did not consider these factors and did not actually

determine the cause of any lost business income, rather he simply assumed the cause without any

analysis:

- Q: So, if I understand what you're telling me here, you were asked to calculate Mr. Long's business losses attributable to the accident on March 29 of 2016?
- A: As a result of the accident and then considering the fact that, you know, he was without a truck for a period of time, and according to Mr. Long, the the truck that he had, replacement truck was not the identical, you know, truck that he had.
- Q: Well, so I'm wondering how did you go about determining So you determined certain business losses for the year 2016, is that correct?
- A: Yes, sir, based on the average of prior years.
- Q: How did you determine that all of those losses that you calculated were a result of the accident itself as opposed to some other factor?
- A: The I did not determine that, but what I did what I did in my calculation was use a five-year average of gross sales and a five-year average of gross profit percentage. Again, all things being consistent, there was no, you know, no outside forces that I was aware of in 2016 that would've that would've caused his business to decline. You know, there's

no terrorism, there's no, you know, anything like that, no - no environment issues that - that came up.

- Q: Did you ask Mr. Long about what other factors might've impacted his income in 20 or his gross receipts, or his business income in 2016?
- A: We discussed we discussed the we discussed his business and and his, you know, his history. You know, Mr. Long felt that his business would've been the same or greater. If you look at historical numbers his his gross sales have actually, you know, with the exception of one year I think was done, the the gross sales have slowly increased, which in my mind is consistent with what, you know, how our economy has grown. It's it's not not fast, but certainly things cost more, so I would expect if a load of gravel cost him \$10.00 more in 2016 that his income would go up by that, you know, you're not going to take a loss, you're going to charge it and pass it through to the customer. So, I would expect numbers to to continue to go up.
- Q: So, if I understand what you said, you said Mr. Long felt his business would have been the same or would've continued to do what it had done '15 to '16, is that what your understanding is?
- A: Yeah, that's –
- Q: Okay. Did you do anything to verify that information from Mr. Long?
- A: No, sir.

Chad Lawyer, CPA July 18, 2017 Deposition, pp. 57-59 (emphasis added) [4684-4686].

- Q: And that \$18,428.00 [reduction in gross profit] would also include factors that are unrelated to the accident?
- A: Yes, sir.
- Q: So how much of the \$18,428.00 in business loss that you've calculated for 2016 would be related solely to the accident?
- A: I don't know the answer to that, but my calculation is again, comparing to what a normal – what an average year was versus what actually happened, so the actually happened includes the 20 – 20-day period where there was no work or no revenues. So I – I'm simply doing the math, A minus B equals C, that's what I – determines losses.
- Q: And you're assuming that there was a loss of revenue because the truck was out of service for that period of time in April?
- A: Yes, sir.

Chad Lawyer, CPA July 18, 2017 Deposition, pp. 78-79 (emphasis added) [4705-4706].

- Q: Why did Mr. Long earn less money in 2016 or I should say why did he have less gross receipts in 2016 than 2015 when he worked one more day with his truck?
- A: I do not know the answer to that except that Mr. Long also does work other than with his truck, so he would he would have his own equipment to generate revenue.

Chad Lawyer, CPA July 18, 2017 Deposition, pp. 81-82 (emphasis added) [4708-4709].

- Q: So, you can't assume that the loss is because of the number of days the work, the truck was worked, right?
- A: I would agree with you on that point. [...]

Chad Lawyer, CPA July 18, 2017 Deposition, pg. 83 [4710].

- Q: So, do you have any way of knowing if he had more than 104 days' worth of work to do for 2016?
- A: I do not, no.
- Q: Without speculating.
- A: That's correct, I do not.
- Q: So, in order to have an accurate calculation of Mr. Long's business loss for 2016 we'd have to know how much business he actually had?
- A: That would allow us to, you know, we could historically look backwards and determine that, yes, if we knew if we knew the business.
- Q: And we'd have to know whether he had any business that he wasn't able to do -
- A: I would agree.
- Q: during 2016?
- A: I would agree.
- Q: And we don't know that.
- A: I do not know that.

Chad Lawyer, CPA July 18, 2017 Deposition, pp. 87-88 (emphasis added) [4714-4715].

- Q: Do you have any way of projecting how many days of work Mr. Long could have had or should have had but for the accident?
- A: No, sir.
- Q: So, you can't tell us that he would have worked any more days in 2016?
- A: I No, I can't say that.

Chad Lawyer, CPA July 18, 2017 Deposition, pp. 89-90 [4716-4717].

On July 3, 2017, Petitioner filed its Motion in Limine to Preclude as Speculative Evidence

of Lost Profits based on Respondent's admission that "[t]here is no way to know without

speculating" what his business would have earned in 2016. [1701-1716]

On December 4, 2017, the Circuit Court denied Petitioner's Motion in Limine to Preclude

as Speculative Evidence of Lost Profits finding that "whether evidence of lost profits is speculative

goes to the weight of the evidence." The Circuit Court also granted Petitioner "leave to supplement

its Motion on the issue of whether [Respondent's] expert has a sufficient basis to state opinions regarding [Respondent's] alleged damages for lost profits and/or [Respondent's] alleged damages for costs associated with his replacement truck." [1871-1874]

On January 5, 2018, Petitioner filed its Supplemental Motion *in Limine* to Preclude Speculative Expert Testimony Regarding the Cause of [Respondent's] Alleged Damages based on Respondent's accountant's (Chad Lawyer, CPA's) admission that he did not determine whether any of the economic losses he calculated were "a result of the subject accident as opposed to some other factor." [1815-1849].

On June 1, 2018, the Circuit Court held a pretrial conference. During this pretrial conference, the Court considered Petitioner's Supplemental Motion *in Limine* to Preclude Speculative Expert Testimony Regarding the Cause of [Respondent's] Alleged Damages. After hearing argument on the Motion, the Court deferred a ruling to allow Petitioner an opportunity to reconvene Respondent's accountant's (Chad Lawyer, CPA's) deposition and investigate whether he followed the proper gross receipts methodology in forming his opinions on Respondent's lost business income. The Court indicated it would then determine "whether we need a Daubert hearing ... or whether voir dire would suffice." [2334-2346]

During the June 1, 2018 pretrial conference, the parties also discussed the proper scope of the Respondent's annoyance and inconvenience claim. As part of this discussion, the Court summarized as follows:

THE COURT: I mean, on the one hand, you're [Respondent's counsel] saying that your client [Respondent] suffered annoyance and inconvenience as a result of not having a truck that he wanted, having to go through the purchase of a truck that was not perfectly suited to what his needs were

Transcript of June 1, 2018 Pretrial Conference, pg. 14 [2308].

THE COURT: Would you agree that he can still put on evidence of annoyance and inconvenience for those 17 days or so that he didn't have a truck and he had to search - I think he searched online records and shopped and did all that, could he still put on annoyance and inconvenience for that portion?

Transcript of June 1, 2018 Pretrial Conference, pg. 17 [2311].

THE COURT: That would be your choice. You know, if you want to put on annoyance and inconvenience for the property damage portion for the 19 days, you can do that without going across the line into insurance and they you can save all the claim handling annoyance and inconvenience issues –

Transcript of June 1, 2018 Pretrial Conference, pp. 18-19. [2312-2313]

In response to the Court's suggestion, Respondent agreed his annoyance and inconvenience

claim should be limited to the nineteen (19) days he was unable to use his dump truck in April

2016:

MS. DAVIS: Actually, that's – Your Honor is probably right. I think that it makes a lot of sense so we just do the 19 days of annoyance and inconvenience while he was without a truck and then that way it makes the other annoyance and inconvenience claim purely about the bad faith case. I'm with you, Your Honor. I think that makes a lot of sense.

[...]

THE COURT: But I think you would keep this case tight, clean, and without getting into the insurance issues if we deal with the annoyance and inconvenience from the facts of the loss of the property for 19 days and then save the claim handling annoyance and inconvenience for whatever action may follow. MS. DAVIS: I think that makes a lot of sense, Your Honor.

Transcript of June 1, 2018 Pretrial Conference, pp. 19-20 (emphasis added) [2313-2314].

Following this discussion, Petitioner moved the Circuit Court to prohibit Respondent from

presenting any evidence about the subject accident, including "Jane Doe fleeing," because

Defendant Jane Doe's negligence and liability were stipulated. Specifically, Petitioner made the

following motion *in limine*:

MR. CALTRIDER: [...] But I do need to address [motion *in limine*] number 5. The Court should prohibit the plaintiff from suggesting any punitive conduct or claiming any punitive damages. Now, I know the plaintiff isn't claiming punitive damages, but in my discussions with [Respondent's counsel] Ms. Davis I've

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