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

A verdict may be overturned "only where the evidence points all one way and is susceptible of no reasonable inferences sustaining the position of the nonmoving party." *Id.*, 173 W.Va. 335, 315 S.E.2d at 605.

B. The trial court did not err when it allowed Carl Long's accountant to testify since his testimony met the liberal admissibility standard of W.Va. R. Evid. 702, and he was not subject to a *Daubert/Wilt* review.

Progressive asserts that the trial court erred in failing to grant its multiple motions *in limine* to prevent Carl Long's accountant from testifying at trial. (Petitioner's brief, p. 27). Progressive asserts the trial court should have performed a "gatekeeping function" to exclude Chad Lawyer's expert testimony. (Pretrial Tr. 2336-43).

However, this Court has consistently held that a trial court may only apply the *Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc.*, 509 U.S. 579, 113 S. Ct. 2786, 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993), and *Wilt v. Buracker*, 191 W. Va. 39, 443 S.E.2d 196 (1993), *cert. denied*, 511 U.S. 1129, 114 S. Ct. 2137, 128 L. Ed. 2d 867 (1994), gatekeeper analysis to experts whose proposed testimony is based upon scientific knowledge. Syl. Pt. 6, *Watson v. INCO Alloys Int'l, Inc.*, 209 W. Va. 234, 545 S.E.2d 294 (2001)(citing Syl. Pt. 6, *Gentry v. Mangum*, 195 W. Va. 512, 466 S.E.2d 171 (1995)).⁴⁰ As such, "[a] court

⁴⁰This Court explained in *In re Flood Litig. Coal River Watershed*, that "[t]he assessment of whether scientifically-based expert testimony is 'reliable,' as that term is used in *Daubert/Wilt*, does not mean an assessment of whether the testimony is persuasive, convincing, or well-founded." Indeed, "this Court's jurisprudence (and the uniform practice in our trial courts) permits two reasonably well-qualified experts, each using a methodology that is grounded in something more than rank speculation or imagination (like reading tea leaves, detecting auras, and the like), to reach directly opposing conclusions -- and both of the experts' testimonies will

considering the admissibility of [non-scientific] evidence should not apply the gatekeeper analysis set forth by this Court in *Wilt v. Buracker*, 191 W. Va. 39, 443 S.E.2d 196 (1993), and *Gentry v. Mangum*, 195 W. Va. 512, 466 S.E.2d 171 (1995).” *Id.*, at 301, and 241.

A trial court must view non-scientific expert testimony through the lens of W.Va. R. Evid. Rule 702, which contains just three requirements: “(1) the witness must be an expert; (2) the expert must testify to scientific, technical or specialized knowledge; and (3) the expert testimony must assist the trier of fact.” *Gentry*, 195 W. Va. at 524, 466 S.E.2d at 183. “Determinations of whether a witness is sufficiently qualified to testify as an expert on a given subject and whether such expert testimony would be helpful to the trier of fact are committed to the sound discretion of the trial court.” *Id.*, at n.17. *See also* Syl. pt. 1, *State v. McCoy*, 179 W. Va. 223, 366 S.E.2d 731 (1988) (“Expert testimony that helps the jury to understand the evidence or determine a fact in issue is admissible under West Virginia Rule of Evidence 702”). “Basically, the helpfulness requirement simply means that the testimony does not concern something that is within the common knowledge and experience of a lay juror. Beyond that, the question of whether expert testimony will assist the trier of fact goes primarily to the relevance of the evidence.” *Watson*, 209 W. Va. at 303, 545 S.E.2d at 243. A trial court’s decision to admit or reject expert testimony will only be reviewable for an abuse of discretion. *State v. LaRock*, 196 W.Va. 294, 306, 470 S.E.2d 613, 625 (1996).

nevertheless fully meet the “reliability” threshold for admissibility set forth in *Daubert/Wilt*. 222 W. Va. 574, 582, n.5, 668 S.E.2d 203, 211, n.5 (2001).

Progressive complains that Chad Lawyer's testimony was unreliable but, as this Court has explained before, "there is no 'best expert' rule. Because of the 'liberal thrust' of the rules pertaining to experts, circuit courts should err on the side of admissibility." *Id.*, 195 W.Va. at 525-27, 466 S.E.2d at 184-86; *see also*, II Franklin D. Cleckley, *Handbook on Evidence for West Virginia Lawyers* § 7-2(A) at 24 ("this standard is very generous and follows the general framework of the federal rules which favors the admissibility of all relevant evidence"). "Any lack of knowledge [by a non-scientific expert] goes to the weight of the testimony and not its admissibility. Once an expert testifies the opposing party can cross-examine the expert and reveal any weaknesses in his or her opinion. Once a witness is permitted to testify, it is within the province of the jury to evaluate the testimony, credentials, background, and qualifications of the witness to address the particular issue in question. The jury may then assign the testimony such weight and value as the jury may determine." *Watson*, 209 W.Va. at 243-44, 545 S.E.2d at 303-04.

There is no question that Mr. Lawyer was qualified to testify as an expert because Progressive specifically stated that there was no objection to his qualifications. (Trial Tr., p. 2839). Mr. Lawyer was an accountant who had specialized knowledge that the Court deemed was relevant on a critical issue, and thus, Mr. Lawyer's testimony was properly presumed to be helpful to the jury. Under the liberal admissibility standards of W.Va. R. Evid. 702, the trial court was correct to allow Mr. Lawyer to testify regarding Carl Long's lost income.

Progressive does not dispute the trial court's findings of fact contained in its Order denying Progressive's renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law, nor could

it credibly do so. When viewing the trial court's findings of fact in the light most favorable to Carl Long, they support denial of Progressive's renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law. (Findings of Fact, Order Denying Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, pp. 3627-39). As such, Progressive's assignment of error is without merit and the trial court's Order must be affirmed.

C. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it granted Progressive's motion for a remittitur, in lieu of a new trial, on the lost income verdict.

The trial court offered, and Carl Long accepted, a remittitur of the jury's lost income verdict, reducing it from \$40,000 to \$18,428. (Order Denying Motion for New Trial, p. 3669). The trial court did not offer Carl a remittitur *sua sponte*. Rather, Progressive moved for the alternative relief, stating "[s]hould the Court consider a remittitur, it should significantly reduce the Plaintiff's lost business income award to an amount actually supported by the evidence." (Motion for New Trial, p. 2509). The court determined that there was sufficient evidence supporting a verdict of \$18,428 and, in lieu of a new trial, the court offered, and Carl accepted, the reduced verdict. (Order Denying Motion for New Trial, pp. 3669).

Now, after the court granted Progressive's requested relief, Progressive claims that the trial court erred in offering the remittitur instead of granting it a new trial. (Petitioner's brief, p. 28). In support of Progressive's appeal, it cites *Addair v. Motors Ins. Corp.*, 157 W.Va. 1013, 207 S.E.2d 163 (1974), an easily distinguishable case. (Petitioner's brief, p. 24-27). In *Addair*, the plaintiff's expert relied upon only 2 years of pre-crash tax information and failed to include "many normal business costs such as wear and tear, maintenance and repairs of the truck, insurance, taxes and other items" in

his analysis. *Id.* at 1021 and 168. In contrast, Chad Lawyer used 7 years of tax returns and, established conservatively, and with reasonable certainty, Carl's lost income in 2016. Also, unlike the accountant in *Addair*, Chad Lawyer had post incident tax returns, which supported his conservative opinion regarding Carl's 2016 losses.

When the trial court's findings of fact are viewed in the light most favorable to Carl Long, they support the denial of Progressive's renewed motion for judgment as a matter of law. (Findings of Fact, Order Denying Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law, pp. 3627-39). As such, the trial court's Order granting Progressive's request for a remittitur which Carl Long accepted, must be affirmed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT ALLOWED IN EVIDENCE OF THE WRECK, SINCE IT WAS PROBATIVE OF CARL LONG'S SUBSTANTIAL ANNOYANCE AND INCONVENIENCE CLAIM; BECAUSE PROGRESSIVE THOUGHT THAT ITS MOTION *IN LIMINE* LIMITING SUCH EVIDENCE AND ARGUMENT WAS GRANTED, AND PROGRESSIVE FAILED TO OBJECT AT TRIAL, PROGRESSIVE WAIVED ITS OBJECTIONS.

A. Standard of Review

Under well-settled law, a party who fails to object to evidence or argument that violates a trial court's pretrial ruling is waived. *See Waldron v. Waldron*, 73 W. Va. 311, 317, 80 S.E. 811, 814 (1913) ("If a party who has made an objection permits it to be forgotten, a waiver should be chargeable to the party"); Syl. Pt. 1, *Maples v. West Virginia Dept. of Commerce*, 197 W. Va. 318, 475 S.E.2d 410 (1996) ("A litigant may not silently acquiesce to an alleged error, or actively contribute to such error, and then raise that error as a reason for reversal on appeal"); Syl. Pt. 3, *In Interest of S.C.*, 168 W. Va. 366, 374, 284 S.E.2d 867, 872 (1981) ("An order . . . which was actually approved by counsel, will not be reviewed on appeal."); Syl. Pt. 2, *State v. Adkins*, 209 W. Va. 212,

544 S.E.2d 914 (2001)(“Failure to make timely and proper objection to remarks of counsel made in the presence of the jury, during the trial of a case, constitutes a waiver of the right to raise the question thereafter either in the trial court or in the appellate court.”).

A party who fails to object and preserve error at trial may only seek a new trial under the “plain error” doctrine. W.Va. R. Civ. P. 103(e). However,

[b]y its very nature, the plain error doctrine is reserved for only the most flagrant errors. In order “[t]o trigger application of the ‘plain error’ doctrine, there must be (1) an error; (2) that is plain; (3) that affects substantial rights; and (4) seriously affects the fairness, integrity, or public reputation of the judicial proceedings.

Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). The plain error doctrine is used sparingly because “[t]here is obviously a considerable tactical advantage to be gained if counsel can remain silent and then press the point on appeal through the plain error doctrine.” *State ex rel. Games-Neely v. Yoder*, 237 W. Va. 301, 310, 787 S.E.2d 572, 581 (2016)(citing *State v. Grubbs*, 178 W. Va. 811, 818, 364 S.E.2d 824, 832 (1987)).

As noted above, in reviewing a trial court’s grant or denial of a motion for a new trial, this Court applies a two-pronged deferential standard of review. *Tennant v. Marion Health Care Found., Inc.*, 194 W.Va. 97, 104, 459 S.E.2d 374, 381 (1995). This Court has explained that it “review[s] the rulings of the circuit court concerning a new trial and its conclusion as to the existence of reversible error under an abuse of discretion standard, and [it reviews] the circuit court’s underlying factual findings under a clearly erroneous standard. Questions of law are subject to a *de novo* review. *Id.* In reviewing a motion for a new trial, the trial court must: “(1) consider the evidence most favorable to the prevailing party; (2) assume that all conflicts in the evidence were resolved by the jury in

favor of the prevailing party; (3) assume as proved all facts which the prevailing party's evidence tends to prove; and (4) give to the prevailing party the benefit of all favorable inferences which reasonably may be drawn from the facts proved." Syl. Pt. 5, *Orr v. Crowder*, 173 W. Va. 335, 315 S.E.2d 593 (1983).

"In determining whether a jury verdict is supported by the evidence, every reasonable and legitimate inference, fairly arising from the evidence in favor of the party for whom the verdict was returned, must be considered, and all facts which the jury might properly have found in support of its verdict must be assumed as true." Syl. Pt. 5, *Poe v. Pittman*, 150 W.Va. 179, 144 S.E. 2d 671 (1965). In addition, "in an action where damages are indeterminate in character, the verdict of the jury may not be set aside as excessive unless it is not supported by the evidence or is so large that the amount thereof indicates that the jury was influenced by passion, partiality, prejudice or corruption, or entertained a mistaken view of the case." Syl. Pt. 7, *Poe v. Pittman*, 150 W.Va. at 180, 144 S. E. 2d at 674. Significantly, a "mere difference of opinion between the court and the jury concerning the proper amount thereof will not justify the court in setting aside such verdict." Syl. Pt. 5, *Browder v. County Court of Webster County*, 145 W. Va. 696, 116 S.E.2d 867 (1960). Lastly, because jury verdicts are entitled to "considerable deference," this Court will not disturb a trial court's award of damages on appeal as long as that award is supported by some competent, credible evidence going to all essential elements of the award." Syl. pt. 4, in part, *Reed v. Wimmer*, 195 W. Va. 199, 465 S.E.2d 199 (1995).

- B. The results of the discussion at the pre-trial hearing concerning Progressive's oral motion *in limine* were unclear, as shown by Progressive's assertion below that its motion was granted and its assertion on appeal that its motion was denied; because there was no clear pretrial ruling on the record, Progressive waived any objection by failing to object at trial.**

Progressive asserted in its Motion for a New Trial that it was granted a "limiting instruction" which barred Carl Long's counsel from eliciting testimony or arguing that Jane Doe fleeing impacted Carl Long's annoyance and inconvenience after the wreck. (See Findings of Fact, Order Denying New Trial, p. 3647). Progressive contended below that, "[d]espite the Court's limiting instruction—'I hope that plaintiff's counsel doesn't dwell on this and take a lot of time on this issue given that it's stipulated that the truck was totaled'—the Plaintiff presented testimony through two witnesses which revealed that the Defendant Jane Doe was an unidentified, hit-and-run driver who fled the accident scene." (Motion for New Trial, p. 2506).

However, at no time during the testimony of the two witnesses, did Progressive object to Carl Long's counsel's line of questioning. "The rule in West Virginia is that parties must speak clearly in the circuit court, on pain that, if they forget their lines, they will likely be bound forever to hold their peace." *State ex rel. Cooper v. Caperton*, 196 W.Va. 208, 216, 470 S.E.2d 162, 170 (1996).

Progressive also claimed that Carl Long's counsel violated the court's purported "limiting instruction" by mentioning in closing remarks that Jane Doe fled the scene of the wreck. *Id.* Progressive also failed to object to this purported violation. "In order to take advantage of remarks made during an opening statement or closing argument which are considered improper an objection must be made and counsel must request the court to

instruct the jury to disregard them.” *State v. Coulter*, 169 W. Va. 526, 530, 288 S.E.2d 819, 821 (1982).

Progressive now asserts, for the first time on appeal, that the trial court denied its motion *in limine*. Progressive does not acknowledge to this Court that it asserted a contrary position below. Progressive opportunistically changes its position so that it can argue to this Court that it was not required to object at trial, pursuant to *Miller v. Allman*, 240 W.Va. 438, 813 S.E.2d 91 (2018). However, because there was no Pretrial Order, and the pretrial transcript is, unclear as evidenced by Progressive’s vacillating positions, Progressive was obligated to protect the record by objecting at trial. See, *Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc.*, 194 W. Va. 97, 114, 459 S.E.2d 374, 391 (1995) (“It is not the role of the trial judge to present evidence The party complaining on appeal of the admission of evidence bears sole responsibility for adequately preserving the record on meaningful appellate review.”). Progressive’s failure to prepare the Pretrial Order to protect the record, or object at trial when the alleged prejudice occurred, waives its objections for appeal.

As such, Progressive’s only remaining remedy is plain error pursuant to W.Va. R. Evid. 103(e).⁴⁴ However, because there was no error that was plain, or any error seriously affecting the fairness, integrity or reputation of the judicial proceedings below, Progressive is not entitled to a new trial pursuant to the plain error doctrine. Syl. Pt. 7, *State v. Miller*, 194 W. Va. 3, 459 S.E.2d 114 (1995). The trial was fair to all sides, Carl Long was fairly compensated for his significant losses, and he obtained justice.

⁴⁴ “If the issue was not presented to the lower tribunal, the assignment of error must be phrased in such a fashion as to alert the Court to the fact that plain error is asserted.” W.Va. R. App. P. 10(c)(3).

Based upon the forgoing, the trial court's denial of Progressive's motion for a new trial must be affirmed.

C. The trial court was right to deny Progressive's motion for a new trial on the annoyance and inconvenience verdict since the verdict was justified.

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